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Notice of HIPAA Special 
Enrollment Rights 

If you chose to decline enrollment 
for yourself or your dependents (in-
cluding your spouse) because of 

other health insurance or group 
health plan coverage, you may be 
able to enroll yourself and your de-

pendents in this plan if you or your 
dependents lose eligibility for that 
other coverage (or if the employer 

stops contributing toward your or 
your dependents' other coverage).  
However, you must request enroll-

ment within 30 days after you or 
your dependents’ other coverage 
ends (or after the employer stops 

contributing toward the other cov-
erage). 

 
You may also be able to enroll in 
this plan if coverage is lost under a 

Medicaid plan or CHIP, or due to a 
determination of eligibility for a 

premium assistance subsidy under 
Medicaid or CHIP.  In these events 
you must request enrollment within 

60 days of the date of a determina-
tion of eligibility for premium assis-
tance or the date the Medicaid or 

CHIP coverage ends. 
 
Additionally, if you have a new de-

pendent as a result of marriage, 
birth, adoption, or placement for 
adoption, you may be able to enroll 

yourself and your dependents. 
However, you must request enroll-
ment within 30 days after the mar-

riage, birth, adoption, or placement 
for adoption. 
 

Please note that in such cases en-
rollment is not automatic, and 
therefore following the enrollment 

process in its entirety is required, 
even if it does not change your 

election tier.  So for example, you 
must formally enroll your newborn 
child onto the plan within 30 days 

of the date of birth even if you al-
ready have family coverage and 
your premiums would not change 

as a result.  Failing to enroll a de-
pendent would result in that de-
pendent not having coverage even 

though the coverage for the rest of 
the family would continue. 
 

Finally, please be advised that this 
plan reserves the right to require a 
written reason for declining the of-

fer of coverage. When an enroll-
ment/waiver form is provided for 
this purpose, a signed and dated 

letter waiving the coverage and 
specifying the specific reason for 
declining the coverage may be ac-

cepted by the Plan Administrators. 
 
To request special enrollment or 

obtain more information, contact 
Debra Moser at (563) 964-1000, 

ext. 103 or dmoser@gutten-
bergind.com.  

NOTICE: If you or your dependents have Medicare 
or will become eligible for Medicare in the next 12 
months, please see the Notice of Creditable Cov-
erage on Page 7 for important information!  

All questions should be directed to: 
 

Debra Moser 
(563) 964-1000, ext. 103 

 dmoser@guttenbergind.com 
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Privacy Policy Notice of 
Availability 
Our Flexible Spending Arrangement 

(FSA) maintains a HIPAA Notice of Pri-

vacy Practices (NPP) that provides in-

formation to individuals whose pro-

tected health information (PHI) will 

be used or maintained by the Plan. If 

you would like a copy of the Plan's 

Notice of Privacy Practices, please 

contact Debra Moser at (563) 964-

1000, ext. 103. It is also available for 

download from our employee portal. 

Newborns’ and Mothers’ 
Health Protection Act 
Notice 
Group health plans and health in-
surance issuers generally may not, 
under Federal law, restrict benefits 

for any hospital length of stay in 
connection with childbirth for the 

mother or newborn child to less 
than 48 hours following a vaginal 
delivery, or less than 96 following a 

cesarean section.  However, federal 
law generally does not prohibit the 
mother's or newborn's attending 

provider, after consulting with the 
mother, from discharging the 
mother or her newborn earlier 

than 48 hours (or 96 hours as appli-
cable).  In any case, plans and issu-
ers may not, under federal law, re-

quire that a provider obtain author-
ization from the plan or the issuer 
for prescribing a length of stay not 

in excess of 48 hours (or 96 hours). 
 
Note that more generous lengths 

of stay may apply under certain 
state laws, when applicable.  In 
such cases, please refer to plan 

documents for a description of 
these richer guidelines.  

Women’s Health and 
Cancer Rights Act Notice 
If you are going to have (or have 
had) a mastectomy, you may be en-

titled to health care benefits under 
the Women’s Health and Cancer 
Rights Act of 1998 (WHCRA).  For 

individuals receiving mastectomy-
related benefits, coverage will be 

provided in a manner determined 
in consultation with the attending 
physician and the patient, for: 

• All stages of reconstruction of 
the breast on which the mastec-
tomy was performed; 

• Surgery and reconstruction of 
the other breast to produce a 
symmetrical appearance; 

• Prostheses; and 

• Treatment of physical complica-
tions of the mastectomy, includ-
ing lymphedema. 

 
Any benefits payable will be subject 
to the same deductibles, coinsur-

ance and other provisions applica-
ble to other surgical and medical 
benefits provided under the plan.  

Please see your Summary of Bene-
fits and Coverage (SBC) or other 
plan materials for your medical and 

surgical deductible and coinsurance 
information. 
 

To request more information on 
WHCRA benefits, please contact 
Debra Moser at (563) 964-1000, 

ext. 103 or dmoser@gutten-
bergind.com. 

Michelle’s Law Notice 
Health plans which extend cover-

age to full-time students age 26 or 
older are required to comply with 
Michelle’s Law, an amendment to 

ERISA allowing students to take up 
to 12 months medical leave of ab-
sence without causing a reduction 

in their health care coverage. 
 

This means that coverage for de-
pendent children aged 26 or older 

cannot be immediately terminated 
due to loss of student status 
caused by a medically necessary 

leave of absence protected under 
Michelle’s Law.  Instead, any such 
termination of coverage will not oc-

cur before the date that is the ear-
lier of: 

• 12 months (one year) after 
the first day of the medically 
necessary leave of absence, or 

• The date on which such cover-
age would otherwise termi-

nate under the terms of the 
plan (see ERISA §714(b)). 

 

A medically necessary leave of ab-
sence generally means a leave of 
absence from or other change in 

enrollment status in a postsecond-
ary educational institution that be-
gins while the child is suffering 

from a serious illness or injury; is 
medically necessary; and causes 
the child to lose student status for 

purposes of coverage under the 
terms of the plan or coverage.  Cer-
tification by a treating physician 

stating that the dependent child is 
suffering from a serious illness or 

injury and that the leave of ab-
sence (or other change of enroll-
ment) is medically necessary may 

be requested in certain circum-
stances, however. 
 
Please see plan materials for details 
pertaining to eligibility for full-time 
students aged 26 or older. Additional 
information about protections af-
forded under Michelle’s Law can be 
found at https://www.law.cor-
nell.edu/uscode/text/29/1185c. 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/29/1185c
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/29/1185c
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General Notice of COBRA 
Continuation Coverage 
Rights 
This notice has important infor-
mation about your right to COBRA 
continuation coverage, which is a 
temporary extension of coverage un-
der the Plan.  This notice explains  
COBRA continuation coverage, when 
it may become available to you and 
your family, and what you need to 
do to protect your right to get it.  
When you become eligible for CO-
BRA, you may also become eligible 
for other coverage options that may 
cost less than COBRA continuation 
coverage. 
 
The right to COBRA continuation cov-
erage was created by a federal law, 
the Consolidated Omnibus Budget 
Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA).  
COBRA continuation coverage can 
become available to you and other 
members of your family when group 
health coverage would otherwise 
end.  For more information about 
your rights and obligations under the 
Plan and under federal law, you 
should review the Plan’s Summary 
Plan Description or contact the Plan 
Administrator.   
 
You may have other options avail-

able to you when you lose group 
health coverage.  For example, you 
may be eligible to buy an individual 

plan through the Health Insurance 
Marketplace.  By enrolling in cover-
age through the Marketplace, you 

may qualify for lower costs on your 
monthly premiums and lower out-
of-pocket costs.  Additionally, you 

may qualify for a 30-day special en-
rollment period for another group 
health plan for which you are eligi-

ble (such as a spouse’s plan), even 
if that plan generally doesn’t ac-
cept late enrollees. 

What is COBRA continuation 
coverage? 
COBRA continuation coverage is a 
continuation of Plan coverage 
when it would otherwise end be-

cause of a life event.  This is also 
called a “qualifying event.”  Specific 
qualifying events are listed later in 

this notice.  After a qualifying 
event, COBRA continuation cover-
age must be offered to each person 

who is a “qualified beneficiary.”  
You, your spouse, and your de-

pendent children could become 
qualified beneficiaries if coverage 
under the Plan is lost because of 

the qualifying event.  Under the 
Plan, qualified beneficiaries who 
elect COBRA continuation coverage 

must pay for COBRA continuation 
coverage. 
 

If you’re an employee, you’ll be-
come a qualified beneficiary if you 
lose your coverage under the Plan 

because of the following qualifying 
events: 

• Your hours of employment are 
reduced, or 

• Your employment ends for any 
reason other than your gross 
misconduct. 

 

If you’re the spouse of an employee, 

you’ll become a qualified beneficiary 

if you lose your coverage under the 

Plan because of the following qualify-

ing events: 

• Death of your spouse; 

• Your spouse’s hours of employ-
ment are reduced; 

• Your spouse’s employment ends 
for any reason other than his or 
her gross misconduct; 

• Your spouse becomes entitled 
to Medicare benefits (under 
Part A, Part B, or both); or 

• You become divorced or legally 
separated from your spouse. 

 

Your dependent children will be-
come qualified beneficiaries if they 

lose coverage under the Plan be-
cause of the following qualifying 
events: 

• Death of parent-employee; 

• The parent-employee’s hours 
of employment are reduced; 

• The parent-employee’s em-
ployment ends for any rea-
son other than his or her 
gross misconduct; 

• The parent-employee be-
comes entitled to Medicare 
benefits (Part A, Part B, or 
both); 

• The parents become divorced 
or legally separated; or 

• The child stops being eligible 
for coverage under the Plan 
as a “dependent child.” 

When is COBRA continuation 
coverage available? 
The Plan will offer COBRA continua-
tion coverage to qualified beneficiar-
ies only after the Plan Administrator 
has been notified that a qualifying 
event has occurred.  The employer 
must notify the Plan Administrator of 
the following qualifying events: 

• The end of employment or re-
duction of hours of employ-
ment;  

• Death of the employee; or 

• The employee’s becoming enti-
tled to Medicare benefits (un-
der Part A, Part B, or both). 

 
For all other qualifying events (di-
vorce or legal separation of the em-
ployee and spouse or a dependent 
child’s losing eligibility for coverage 
as a dependent child), you must no-
tify the Plan Administrator within 60 
days after the qualifying event oc-
curs.  You must provide this notice 
to the person listed at the front of 
this booklet. 
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How is COBRA continuation 
coverage provided? 
Once the Plan Administrator receives 
notice that a qualifying event has oc-
curred, COBRA continuation coverage 
will be offered to each of the quali-
fied beneficiaries.  Each qualified 
beneficiary will have an independent 
right to elect COBRA continuation 
coverage.  Covered employees may 
elect COBRA continuation coverage 
on behalf of their spouses, and par-
ents may elect COBRA continuation 
coverage on behalf of their children.   
 
COBRA continuation coverage is a 
temporary continuation of coverage 
that generally lasts for 18 months 
due to employment termination or 
reduction of hours of work. Certain 
qualifying events, or a second qualify-
ing event during the initial period of 
coverage, may permit a beneficiary 
to receive a maximum of 36 months 
of coverage. 
 
There are also ways in which this 18-
month period of COBRA continuation 
coverage can be extended:   
 

Disability extension of 18-month 
period of COBRA continuation 
coverage 
If you or anyone in your family cov-
ered under the Plan is determined by 
Social Security to be disabled and you 
notify the Plan Administrator in a 
timely fashion, you and your entire 
family may be entitled to get up to an 
additional 11 months of COBRA con-
tinuation coverage, for a maximum of 
29 months.  The disability would have 
to have started at some time before 
the 60th day of COBRA continuation 
coverage and must last at least until 
the end of the 18-month period of 
COBRA continuation coverage.   

Second qualifying event extension of 
18-month period of continuation 
coverage 
If your family experiences another 
qualifying event during the 18 

months of COBRA continuation cov-
erage, the spouse and dependent 
children in your family can get up to 
18 additional months of COBRA con-
tinuation coverage, for a maximum of 
36 months, if the Plan is properly no-
tified about the second qualifying 
event.  This extension may be availa-
ble to the spouse and any dependent 
children getting COBRA continuation 
coverage if the employee or former 
employee dies; becomes entitled to 
Medicare benefits (under Part A, Part 
B, or both); gets divorced or legally 
separated; or if the dependent child 
stops being eligible under the Plan as 
a dependent child.  This extension is 
only available if the second qualifying 
event would have caused the spouse 
or dependent child to lose coverage 
under the Plan had the first qualifying 
event not occurred. 

Are there other coverage options 
besides COBRA Continuation 
Coverage? 
Yes.  Instead of enrolling in COBRA 
continuation coverage, there may be 
other coverage options for you and 
your family through the Health Insur-
ance Marketplace, Medicaid, or other 
group health plan coverage options 
(such as a spouse’s plan) through 
what is called a “special enrollment 
period.”  Some of these options may 
cost less than COBRA continuation 
coverage.  You can learn more about 
many of these options at 
www.healthcare.gov. 

Can I enroll in Medicare instead of 
COBRA after my group health plan 
coverage ends? 
In general, if you don’t enroll in Med-
icare Part A or B when you are first 
eligible because you are still em-
ployed, after the Medicare initial en-
rollment period, you have an 8-
month special enrollment period  to 
sign up for Medicare Part A or B, be-
ginning on the earlier of 

• The month after your employ-
ment ends; or  

• The month after group health 
plan coverage based on cur-
rent employment ends. 

 
If you don’t enroll in Medicare and 
elect COBRA continuation coverage 
instead, you may have to pay a Part 
B late enrollment penalty and you 
may have a gap in coverage if you 
decide you want Part B later.  If you 
elect COBRA continuation coverage 
and later enroll in Medicare Part A or 
B before the COBRA continuation 
coverage ends, the Plan may termi-
nate your continuation coverage.  
However, if Medicare Part A or B is 
effective on or before the date of the 
COBRA election, COBRA coverage 
may not be discontinued on account 
of Medicare entitlement, even if you 
enroll in the other part of Medicare 
after the date of the election of CO-
BRA coverage. 
 
If you are enrolled in both COBRA 
continuation coverage and Medicare, 
Medicare will generally pay first (pri-
mary payer) and COBRA continuation 
coverage will pay second.  Certain 
plans may pay as if secondary to 
Medicare, even if you are not en-
rolled in Medicare. 
 
For more information visit 
https://www.medicare.gov/medi-
care-and-you. 

If you have questions 
Questions concerning your Plan or 
your COBRA continuation coverage 
rights can be directed to Debra 
Moser at (563) 964-1000, ext. 103 or 
dmoser@guttenbergind.com.  For 
more information about your rights 
under the Employee Retirement In-
come Security Act (ERISA), including 
COBRA, the Patient Protection and 
Affordable Care Act, and other laws 
affecting group health plans subject 
to ERISA, contact the nearest Re-
gional or District Office of the U.S. 
Department of Labor’s Employee 
Benefits Security Administration 

file://///assuredpartners.com/ap/APGP-Remote/Agency_Files/LMC/Home/Tom.Seltz/Notices%20and%20Disclosures/Notice%20and%20Disclosure%20Packets/Notice%20and%20Disclosure%20Packet%20Generator%20Tool/www.healthcare.gov
https://www.medicare.gov/medicare-and-you
https://www.medicare.gov/medicare-and-you
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(EBSA) in your area or visit 
www.dol.gov/ebsa. 
 

For more information about the Mar-

ketplace, visit www.healthcare.gov. 

Keep your Plan informed of address 
changes 
To protect your family’s rights, let the 
Plan Administrator know about any 
changes in the addresses of family 
members.  You should also keep a 
copy, for your records, of any notices 
you send to the Plan Administrator. 

Termination of Coverage for Cause 
Please be advised that our Plan re-
serves the right to terminate cover-
age for cause, when applicable and as 
permitted by the Plan’s rules and/or 
administrative guidelines. 

Presumption of COBRA and USERRA 
Concurrent Election Disclosure 
Please note that any continuation 
rights under COBRA and the Uni-
formed Services Employment and 
Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 
when applicable, are similar but not 
identical. When both are available, 
the election for continuation cover-
age that you, the employee, make 
pursuant to COBRA will also be con-
sidered your election under USERRA 
for you and your covered depend-
ents. Thus, USERRA will apply with 
respect to the COBRA continuation 
coverage elected by you and any CO-
BRA continuation coverage elected 
by your covered dependents. Contin-
uation coverage under both statutes 
will run concurrently (at the same 
time), so that, for example, when 
your (or your covered dependent’s) 
first 18 months of concurrent COBRA 
and USERRA continuation coverage 
ends, you (or your covered depend-
ent) will have up to an additional six 
months of continuation coverage un-
der USERRA. 
 
For periods of time in which you (or 
your covered dependents) have 

continuation coverage pursuant to 
both COBRA and USERRA, the law 
that provides the greater benefit will 
apply. The administrative policies and 
procedures described in our COBRA 
Election Notice (for example, the pro-
cedures for how to elect COBRA cov-
erage and for paying premiums for 
COBRA coverage) also apply to 
USERRA coverage, unless compliance 
with the COBRA procedures is pre-
cluded by military necessity or is oth-
erwise impossible or unreasonable 
under the circumstances. 
 
If you have continuation rights under 
both laws, instead of making the 
combined COBRA and USERRA elec-
tion described above you may make 
an election under only COBRA or, al-
ternatively, you may make an elec-
tion under only USERRA. For infor-
mation about how to make a 
USERRA-only or COBRA-only election 
please contact Debra Moser at (563) 
964-1000, ext. 103 or dmoser@gut-
tenbergind.com. 

Employee Rights Under the 
Family and Medical Leave 

Act (FMLA) 
Leave Entitlements 

Eligible employees who work for a 
covered employer can take up to 12 
weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave 
in a 12-month period for the follow-
ing reasons: 

• The birth of a child or place-
ment of a child for adoption 
or foster care; 

• To bond with a child (leave 
must be taken within 1 year 

of the child’s birth or place-
ment); 

• To care for the employee’s 
spouse, child, or parent who 
has a qualifying serious health 
condition; 

• For the employee’s own quali-
fying serious health condition 

that makes the employee 

unable to perform the em-
ployee’s job; 

• For qualifying exigencies re-
lated to the foreign deploy-

ment of a military member 
who is the employee’s 
spouse, child, or parent. 

 

An eligible employee who is a cov-
ered servicemember’s spouse, child, 
parent, or next of kin may also take 
up to 26 weeks of FMLA leave in a 
single 12-month period to care for 
the servicemember with a serious in-
jury or illness. 
 
An employee does not need to use 
leave in one block. When it is medi-
cally necessary or otherwise permit-
ted, employees may take leave inter-
mittently or on a reduced schedule. 
 
Employees may choose, or an em-
ployer may require, use of accrued 
paid leave while taking FMLA leave. If 
an employee substitutes accrued 
paid leave for FMLA leave, the em-
ployee must comply with the em-
ployer’s normal paid leave policies. 

Benefits & Protections 
While employees are on FMLA leave, 
employers must continue health in-
surance coverage as if the employees 
were not on leave. 
 
Upon return from FMLA leave, most 
employees must be restored to the 
same job or one nearly identical to it 
with equivalent pay, benefits, and 
other employment terms and condi-
tions. 
 
An employer may not interfere with 
an individual’s FMLA rights or retali-
ate against someone for using or try-
ing to use FMLA leave, opposing any 
practice made unlawful by the FMLA, 
or being involved in any proceeding 
under or related to the FMLA. 

file://///assuredpartners.com/ap/APGP-Remote/Agency_Files/LMC/Home/Tom.Seltz/Notices%20and%20Disclosures/Notice%20and%20Disclosure%20Packets/Notice%20and%20Disclosure%20Packet%20Generator%20Tool/www.dol.gov/ebsa
http://www.healthcare.gov/
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Eligibility Requirements 
An employee who works for a cov-
ered employer must meet three cri-
teria in order to be eligible for FMLA 
leave. The employee must: 

• Have worked for the em-
ployer for at least 12 months; 

• Have at least 1,250 hours of 
service in the 12 months be-
fore taking leave;* and 

• Work at a location where the 
employer has at least 50 em-
ployees within 75 miles of the 

employee’s worksite. 
 

*Special “hours of service” require-

ments apply to airline flight crew em-

ployees. 

Requesting Leave 
Generally, employees must give 30-
days’ advance notice of the need for 
FMLA leave. If it is not possible to 
give 30-days’ notice, an employee 
must notify the employer as soon as 
possible and, generally, follow the 
employer’s usual procedures. 
 

Employees do not have to share a 
medical diagnosis but must provide 
enough information to the employer 
so it can determine if the leave quali-
fies for FMLA protection. Sufficient 
information could include informing 
an employer that the employee is or 
will be unable to perform his or her 
job functions, that a family member 
cannot perform daily activities, or 
that hospitalization or continuing 
medical treatment is necessary. Em-
ployees must inform the employer if 
the need for leave is for a reason for 
which FMLA leave was previously 
taken or certified. 
 

Employers can require a certification 
or periodic recertification supporting 
the need for leave. If the employer 
determines that the certification is 
incomplete, it must provide a written 
notice indicating what additional in-
formation is required. 

Employer Responsibilities 
Once an employer becomes aware 
that an employee’s need for leave is 
for a reason that may qualify under 
the FMLA, the employer must notify 
the employee if he or she is eligible 
for FMLA leave and, if eligible, must 
also provide a notice of rights and re-
sponsibilities under the FMLA. If the 
employee is not eligible, the em-
ployer must provide a reason for inel-
igibility. 
 
Employers must notify its employees 
if leave will be designated as FMLA 
leave, and if so, how much leave will 
be designated as FMLA leave. 

Enforcement 
Employees may file a complaint with 
the U.S. Department of Labor, Wage 
and Hour Division, or may bring a pri-
vate lawsuit against an employer. 
 
The FMLA does not affect any federal 
or state law prohibiting discrimina-
tion or supersede any state or local 
law or collective bargaining agree-
ment that provides greater family or 
medical leave rights. 
 
For additional information or to file a 
complaint, call (866) 4-USWAGE (866-
487-9243; TTY 877-889-5627) or go 
to www.dol.gov/whd. 
  

Taxable Fringe Benefit 
Reminder for Non-Tax 
Dependents 
Although employers can generally ex-
clude certain fringe benefits from an 
employee’s taxable income, per IRS 
rules this tax-favored treatment ap-
plies only to benefits for employees, 
their legal spouses, Code §105b tax 
dependents, and children under 27 at 
the end of the tax year. 
 
If and when benefits such as health, 
dental, and vision are provided to in-
dividuals who are not tax dependents 
(including adult children over age 26, 
domestic partners, parties to a civil 
union, and [specify type of non-tax 
dependent here]), the Fair Market 
Value of such benefits will be re-
ported as taxable income to the em-
ployee or other recipient in accord-
ance with Federal and State Law, as 
applicable. It is our administrative 
practice to assume these individuals 
are not tax dependents unless the 
employee informs us otherwise, in 
writing, and provides us with any re-
quested evidence or attestation as 
our administrative guidelines re-
quire at the time. 
 
Finally, be advised that individuals 
who are not Code §105(b) tax de-
pendents are not eligible for reim-
bursement using funds from an HSA 
trust (bank account), even if eligible 
for reimbursement by the underlying 
High Deductible Health Plan. Please 
refer to plan materials for details on 
eligible individuals for each respec-
tive benefit program. 
 

  

http://www.dol.gov/whd
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NOTE: THE PRIMARY INSURED IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING THIS NOTICE TO ALL 

MEDICARE ELIGIBLE FAMILY MEMBERS (or those about to become Medicare Eligible)! 
 

Notice of Creditable Coverage for the 2026 Plan Year 
 

We have determined that the prescription drug coverage provided under the Guttenberg Industries, Inc. Em-

ployee Benefits Plan is expected to pay out, on average, the same or more than what the standard Medicare 

prescription drug coverage will pay.  This is known as “creditable coverage” as defined by the Medicare Modern-

ization Act (MMA).  
 

Why This is Important 
 

When someone first becomes eligible to enroll in a government-sponsored Medicare “Part D” prescription drug 

plan, enrollment is considered timely if completed by the end of his or her “Initial Enrollment Period” which 

ends 3 months after the month in which he or she turned age 65. 
 

Unfortunately, if you choose not to enroll in Medicare Part D during your Initial Enrollment Period, when you 

finally do enroll you may be subject to a late enrollment penalty added to your monthly Medicare Part D pre-

mium.  Specifically, the extra cost, if any, increases based on the number of full, uncovered months during which 

you went without either Medicare Part D or else without “creditable” prescription drug coverage from another 

source (such as ours). 
 

It is important for those eligible for both Medicare and our group health plan to look ahead and weigh the costs 

and benefits of the various options on a regular, if not annual, basis.  Based on individual facts and circum-

stances some choose to elect Medicare only, some choose to elect coverage under the group health plan only, 

while some choose to enroll in both coverages.  When both are elected, please note that benefits coordinate 

according to the Medicare Secondary Payer Rules.  That is, one plan or the other would reduce payment in order 

to prevent you from being reimbursed the full amount from both sources.  Your age, the reason for your Medi-

care eligibility and other factors determine which plan is primary (pays first, generally without reductions) versus 

secondary (pays second, generally with reductions). 
 

Eligible individuals can enroll in a Medicare Part D prescription drug plan during Medicare’s “Annual Coordinated 

Election Period” (a.k.a. “Open Enrollment Period”) running from Oct. 15 through Dec. 7 of each year, as well dur-

ing what is known as a “Medicare Special Enrollment Period” (which is triggered by certain qualifying events, 

including the loss of creditable group prescription drug coverage).  Those who miss these opportunities are 

generally unable to enroll in a Medicare Part D plan until another enrollment period becomes available. Fi-

nally, please be cautioned that even if you elect our coverage, you could be subject to a payment of higher Part 

D premiums if you subsequently experience a break in coverage of 63 continuous days or longer before enrolling 

in the Medicare Part D plan.  Carefully coordinating your transition between plans is therefore essential. 
 

If you are unsure as to whether or when you will become eligible for Medicare, or if you have questions about 

how to get help to pay for it, please call the Social Security Administration at (800) 772-1213 or visit socialsecu-

rity.gov.  Specific questions about our prescription drug coverage should be directed to the customer service 

number on your ID card, if enrolled, or to Debra Moser at (563) 964-1000, ext. 103 or dmoser@gutten-

bergind.com.  
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Premium Assistance Under Medicaid and the 

Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP)  
 

If you or your children are eligible for Medicaid or 

CHIP and you’re eligible for health coverage from 

your employer, your state may have a premium as-

sistance program that can help pay for coverage, us-

ing funds from their Medicaid or CHIP programs.  If 

you or your children aren’t eligible for Medicaid or 

CHIP, you won’t be eligible for these premium assis-

tance programs but you may be able to buy individ-

ual insurance coverage through the Health Insur-

ance Marketplace.  For more information, visit 

www.healthcare.gov.  

 

If you or your dependents are already enrolled in 

Medicaid or CHIP and you live in a State listed be-

low, contact your State Medicaid or CHIP office to 

find out if premium assistance is available.   

 

If you or your dependents are NOT currently en-

rolled in Medicaid or CHIP, and you think you or any 

of your dependents might be eligible for either of 

these programs, contact your State Medicaid or 

CHIP office or dial 1-877-KIDS NOW or www.in-

surekidsnow.gov to find out how to apply.  If you 

qualify, ask your state if it has a program that might 

help you pay the premiums for an employer-spon-

sored plan.   

 

If you or your dependents are eligible for premium 

assistance under Medicaid or CHIP, as well as eligi-

ble under your employer plan, your employer must 

allow you to enroll in your employer plan if you 

aren’t already enrolled.  This is called a “special en-

rollment” opportunity, and you must request cov-

erage within 60 days of being determined eligible 

for premium assistance.  If you have questions 

about enrolling in your employer plan, contact the 

Department of Labor at www.askebsa.dol.gov or 

call 1-866-444-EBSA (3272).

 

Notice of Premium Assistance Under Medicaid and 

the Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP) 
 

http://www.healthcare.gov/
http://www.insurekidsnow.gov/
http://www.insurekidsnow.gov/
http://www.askebsa.dol.gov/
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If you live in one of the following states, you may be eligible for assistance from Medicaid in paying for your 

employer health plan premiums.  The following list of states is current as of Jul. 31, 2025.  Contact your State 

for more information on eligibility – 
 

ALABAMA | Medicaid 
Website: http://myalhipp.com/ 
Phone: 1-855-692-5447 
 

ALASKA | Medicaid 
The AK Health Insurance Premium 
Payment Program 
Website:  http://myakhipp.com/  
Phone:  1-866-251-4861 
Email:   
CustomerService@MyAKHIPP.com 
Medicaid Eligibility:  
https://health.alaska.gov/dpa/Pages/
default.aspx 
 

ARKANSAS | Medicaid 
Website: http://myarhipp.com/ 
Phone: 1-855-MyARHIPP (855-692-
7447) 
 

CALIFORNIA | Medicaid 
Health Insurance Premium Payment 
(HIPP) Program Website: 
http://dhcs.ca.gov/hipp 
Phone: 916-445-8322 
Fax: 916-440-5676 
Email: hipp@dhcs.ca.gov 
 

COLORADO | Health First Colorado 
(Colorado’s Medicaid Program) & 
Child Health Plan Plus (CHP+) 
Health First Colorado Website: 
https://www healthfirstcolorado.com/  
Health First Colorado Member Con-
tact Center:  1-800-221-3943/ State 
Relay 711 
CHP+: https://hcpf.colo-
rado.gov/child-health-plan-plus 
CHP+ Customer Service: 1-800-359-
1991/ State Relay 711 
Health Insurance Buy-In Program 
(HIBI): https://www.mycohibi.com/ 
HIBI Customer Service: 1-855-692-
6442 
 

FLORIDA | Medicaid 
Website: 
https://www.flmedicaidtplrecov-
ery.com/flmedicaidtplrecov-
ery.com/hipp/index.html 
Phone: 1-877-357-3268 

GEORGIA | Medicaid 
GA HIPP Website: https://medi-
caid.georgia.gov/health-insurance-
premium-payment-program-hipp 
Phone: 678-564-1162, Press 1 
GA CHIPRA Website: 
https://medicaid.georgia.gov/pro-
grams/third-party-liability/childrens-
health-insurance-program-reauthori-
zation- act-2009-chipra 
Phone: 678-564-1162, Press 2 
 

INDIANA | Medicaid 
Website: https://www.in.gov/medi-
caid/  or http://www.in.gov/fssa/dfr/ 
Family and Social Services Administra-
tion 
Phone: 1-800-403-0864, Member Ser-
vices Phone: 1-800-457-4584 
 

IOWA – Medicaid & CHIP (Hawki) 
Medicaid Website: 
https://hhs.iowa.gov/programs/wel-
come-iowa-medicaid 
Medicaid Phone: 1-800-338-8366 
Hawki Website: 
https://hhs.iowa.gov/programs/wel-
come-iowa-medicaid/iowa-health-
link/hawki 
Hawki Phone: 1-800-257-8563 
HIPP Website: 
https://hhs.iowa.gov/programs/wel-
come-iowa-medicaid/fee-service/hipp 
HIPP Phone: 1-888-346-9562 
 

KANSAS | Medicaid 
Website:  https://www.kan-
care.ks.gov/ 
Phone:  1-800-792-4884 
HIPAA Phone: 1-800-967-4660 
 

KENTUCKY | Medicaid 
Kentucky Integrated Health Insurance 
Premium Payment Program (KI-HIPP) 
Website: https://chfs.ky.gov/agen-
cies/dms/member/Pages/kihipp.aspx 
Phone: 1-855-459-6328 
Email: KIHIPP.PROGRAM@ky.gov 
KCHIP Website: https://kynect.ky.gov 
Phone: 1-877-524-4718 

KENTUCKY | Medicaid (continued) 
Kentucky Medicaid Website: 
https://chfs.ky.gov/agencies/dms 
 

LOUISIANA | Medicaid 
Website: www.medicaid.la.gov or 
www.ldh.la.gov/lahipp 
Phone: 1-888-342-6207 (Medicaid 
hotline) or 1-855-618-5488 (LaHIPP)  
 

MAINE | Medicaid 
Enrollment Website: 
https://www.mymaineconnec-
tion.gov/benefits/s/?language=en_US 
Phone: 1-800-442-6003 
TTY: Maine relay 711 
Private Health Insurance Premium 
Webpage: 
https://www.maine.gov/dhhs/ofi/ap-
plications-forms 
Phone: 1-800-977-6740 
TTY: Maine relay 711 
 

MASSACHUSETTS | Medicaid & CHIP 
Website: 
https://www.mass.gov/masshealth/pa 
Phone: 1-800-862-4840 TTY: 711 
Email: 
masspremassistance@accenture.com 
 

MINNESOTA | Medicaid 
Website: https://mn.gov/dhs/health-
care-coverage/ 
Phone: 1-800-657-3672 
 

MISSOURI | Medicaid 
Website: http://www.dss.mo.gov/ 
mhd/participants/pages/hipp.htm 
Phone: 573-751-2005 
 

MONTANA | Medicaid 
Website: http://dphhs.mt.gov/Mon-
tanaHealthcarePrograms/HIPP 
Phone: 1-800-694-3084 
Email: HHSHIPPProgram@mt.gov 
 

NEBRASKA | Medicaid 
Website:  http://www.ACCESSNe-
braska.ne.gov 
Phone: 1-855-632-7633 
Lincoln: 402-473-7000 
Omaha: 402-595-1178 

https://kynect.ky.gov/
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NEVADA | Medicaid 
Medicaid Website:  
https://dhcfp.nv.gov 
Medicaid Phone:  1-800-992-0900 
 

NEW HAMPSHIRE | Medicaid 
Website: 
https://www.dhhs.nh.gov/programs-
services/medicaid/health-insurance-pre-
mium-program 
Phone: 603-271-5218 
Toll free number for the HIPP pro-
gram: 1-800-852-3345, ext. 15218 
Email: DHHS.ThirdPar-
tyLiabi@dhhs.nh.gov 
 

NEW JERSEY | Medicaid & CHIP 
Medicaid Website: 
http://www.state.nj.us/human-
services/dmahs/clients/medicaid/ 
Phone: 800-356-1561 
CHIP Premium Assistance Phone: 609-
631-2392 
CHIP Website: http://www.njfamily 
care.org/ index.html 
CHIP Phone: 1-800-701-0710 (TTY 711) 
 

NEW YORK | Medicaid 
Website: 
https://www.health.ny.gov/health_ca
re/medicaid/ 
Phone: 1-800-541-2831 
 

NORTH CAROLINA | Medicaid 
Website:  https://medi-
caid.ncdhhs.gov/ 
Phone:  919-855-4100 
 

NORTH DAKOTA | Medicaid 
Website: 
https://www.hhs.nd.gov/healthcare 
Phone: 1-844-854-4825 
 

OKLAHOMA | Medicaid and CHIP 
Website: http://www.insureokla-
homa.org 
Phone: 1-888-365-3742 

OREGON | Medicaid 
Website: http://healthcare.ore-
gon.gov/Pages/index.aspx 
Phone: 1-800-699-9075 
 

PENNSYLVANIA | Medicaid & CHIP 
Website: https://www.pa.gov/en/ser-
vices/dhs/apply-for-medicaid-health-
insurance-premium-payment-pro-
gram-hipp.html 
Phone: 1-800-692-7462 
CHIP Website: 
https://www.dhs.pa.gov/CHIP/Pages/
CHIP.aspx 
CHIP Phone: 1-800-986-KIDS (5437) 
 

RHODE ISLAND | Medicaid and CHIP 
Website: http://www.eohhs.ri.gov/ 
Phone: 855-697-4347, or 401-462-
0311 (Direct RIte Share Line) 
 

SOUTH CAROLINA  | Medicaid 
Website: https://www.scdhhs.gov 
Phone: 1-888-549-0820 
 

SOUTH DAKOTA | Medicaid 
Website: http://dss.sd.gov 
Phone: 1-888-828-0059 
 

TEXAS  | Medicaid 
Website: 
https://www.hhs.texas.gov/ser-
vices/financial/health-insurance-pre-
mium-payment-hipp-program 
Phone: 1-800-440-0493 
 

UTAH | Medicaid & CHIP 
Utah’s Premium Partnership for 
Health Insurance (UPP) Website: 
https://medicaid.utah.gov/ 
Email: upp@utah.gov 
Phone: 1-888-222-2542 
Adult Expansion Website: 
https://medicaid.utah.gov/expansion/ 
Utah Medicaid Buyout Program Web-
site: https://medicaid.utah.gov/buy-
out-program/ 

UTAH | Medicaid & CHIP (continued) 
CHIP Website: 
http://health.utah.gov/chip 
 

VERMONT | Medicaid 
Website: https://dvha.ver-
mont.gov/members/medicaid/hipp-
program 
Phone: 1-800-250-8427 
 

VIRGINIA | Medicaid & CHIP 
Website: https://coverva.dmas.vir-
ginia.gov/learn/premium-assis-
tance/famis-select 
https://coverva.dmas.vir-
ginia.gov/learn/premium-assis-
tance/health-insurance-premium-pay-
ment-hipp-programs 
Medicaid/CHIP Phone: 1-800-432-
5924 
 

WASHINGTON | Medicaid 
Website: https://www.hca.wa.gov/ 
Phone:  1-800-562-3022 
 

WEST VIRGINIA | Medicaid and CHIP 
Website:  https://dhhr.wv.gov.bms/ 
http://mywvhipp.com/ 
Medicaid Phone: 304-558-1700 
CHIP Toll-free phone: 1-855-
MyWVHIPP (1-855-699-8447) 
 

WISCONSIN | Medicaid & CHIP 
Website: 
https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/badg-
ercareplus/p-10095.htm 
Phone: 1-800-362-3002 
 

WYOMING | Medicaid 
Website: 
https://health.wyo.gov/healthcare-
fin/medicaid/programs-and-eligibility/ 
Phone: 1-800-251-1269 

   
 

To see if any other states have added a premium assistance program since Jul. 31, 2025, or for more information on spe-
cial enrollment rights, contact either: 
 

U.S. Department of Labor 
Employee Benefits Security Administration 

www.dol.gov/agencies/ebsa 
1-866-444-EBSA (3272) 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services 

www.cms.hhs.gov 
1-877-267-2323, Menu Option 4, Ext.  61565 

 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ebsa
http://www.cms.hhs.gov/

